
 

 

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 
Venue: Rotherham Town Hall, 

Moorgate Street, 
Rotherham.  S60 2 TH 

Date: Wednesday 8 September 2021 

  Time: 9.30 a.m. 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 

 
  
 
1. To determine whether the following items should be considered under the 

categories suggested in accordance with Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended 
March 2006) of the Local Government Act 1972.  

  

 
2. To determine any item(s) which the Chairman is of the opinion should be 

considered later in the agenda as a matter of urgency.  
  

 
3. Licensing Act 2003 - Licence - Consideration of an application (made in 

accordance with s.17 of the Licensing Act 2003) for the Grant of a Premises 
Licence for Fika Coffee Lounge, 212 Bawtry Road, Wickersley, Rotherham, 
S66 1AA (Pages 3 - 73) 

  

 

 



KEEP SAFE WHILE VISITING 
RIVERSIDE HOUSE AND  
THE TOWN HALL

KEEP  
TWO  

METRES 
APART

WASH 
YOUR 

HANDS 
OFTEN

STICK  
TO THE 

SEATING 
PLAN

WEAR 
A FACE 

COVERING

HOUSE KEEPING TIPS
•	� Meeting rooms and the Council Chamber will be sanitised before 

and after every meeting.

•	 Follow the one-way systems in place.

•	 Only one person (and their carer) should use a lift at a time.

•	� Get tested regularly, either at home or by booking a test at 
Riverside Lateral Flow Test Site.

•	� If you have any symptoms of COVID-19, stay at home and 
order a test.

Further information about COVID-19 can be found at 
www.rotherham.gov.uk/coronavirus

www.rotherham.gov.uk/coronovirus

Page 2 Agenda Annex



 
 
 

 

 
Public Report 

Licensing Sub-Committee 
 
Committee Name and Date of Committee Meeting 
  
Licensing Sub-Committee – 8th September 2021 (9:30 am) 
 
Report Title 
 
Consideration of an application (made in accordance with s.17 of the Licensing Act 
2003) for the Grant of a Premises Licence for Fika Coffee Lounge, 212 Bawtry Road, 
Wickersley, Rotherham, S66 1AA. 
 
Report Author(s) 
 
Alan Pogorzelec, Licensing Manager, Community Safety and Street Scene 
01709 254955  
 
Report Summary 
 
On the 16th July 2021, the Council’s Licensing Service accepted an application for a 
Premises Licence at Fika Coffee Lounge, 212 Bawtry Road, Wickersley, Rotherham, 
S66 1AA.  The premises is described by the applicant as a coffee lounge providing 
food and refreshments, serving alcohol on the premises as an accompaniment to 
meals.  The applicant is seeking a licence to permit the provision of regulated 
entertainment and the sale of alcohol for consumption on the premises only.  
 
As the premises is located within Wickersley, the application falls under the scope of 
the Council’s Cumulative Impact Policy.  This application should be considered in 
accordance with this policy along with the Council’s overarching Licensing Act 2003 
Statement of Licensing Policy. 
 
Following the submission of the application paperwork, two representations were 
received.  One from Wickersley Parish Council objecting to the application, and a 
second from a local resident supporting the application.  In addition, Rotherham 
MBC Licensing Service (acting in its role as a responsible authority) have agreed 
conditions with the applicant that are intended to address any concerns that the 
service may have had in relation to the application.  Further detail on these matters 
is provided within the main body of the report. 
    
 
  

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



 
 
 

Recommendations 
 

1. That the Licensing Sub-Committee considers the information contained within 

this report (and associated appendices) along with any additional information 

presented at the hearing and subsequently determines the application that 

has been made. 

 

2. The Licensing Sub-Committee should inform the Licensing Manager of the 

decision in accordance with the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003 and 

Regulations made thereunder.  

 
List of Appendices Included 
 
Appendix 1  Location details  
Appendix 2 Application form accepted on 16th July 2021 (including premises plan) 
Appendix 3 Conditions agreed with Rotherham MBC Licensing Service 
Appendix 4  Representation received from Wickersley Parish Council 
Appendix 5 Representation received from a local resident 
Appendix 6 Rotherham MBC Cumulative Impact Policy 
 
 
Background Papers 
 
Rotherham MBC Statement of Licensing Policy 2020 -2025  
(available at www.rotherham.gov.uk/licensing) 
 
Rotherham MBC Cumulative Impact Policy 2020 – 2023 (available at 
www.rotherham.gov.uk/licensing - also attached as Appendix 5) 
 
Revised guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003 (April 2018) 
(available at https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-
revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003) 
 
 
Council Approval Required 
 
No 
 
Exempt from the Press and Public 
 
No 
 

Page 4

http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/licensing
http://www.rotherham.gov.uk/licensing
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/explanatory-memorandum-revised-guidance-issued-under-s-182-of-licensing-act-2003


 
 
 

Consideration of an application (made in accordance with s.17 of the 
Licensing Act 2003) for the Grant of a Premises Licence for Fika Coffee 
Lounge, 212 Bawtry Road, Wickersley, Rotherham, S66 1AA. 
 
 
1. Background 
  
1.1 The application has been made in relation to Fika Coffee Lounge, 212 Bawtry 

Road, Wickersley, Rotherham, S66 1AA.  The applicant is seeking a licence to 
permit regulated entertainment and the retail sale of alcohol for consumption on 
the premises.  The location of the premises is shown at Appendix 1. 
 

1.2 The premises does not currently have the benefit of a Premises Licence 
prompting the submission of the application to which this report relates.  A copy 
of application can be found at Appendix 2.   

 

1.3 There is a prescribed period of 28 days following the submission of an 
application during which time interested parties / responsible authorities may 
submit representations in relation to the application. 

 

1.4 At the end of the prescribed period, two representations had been received.  
One was from Wickersley Parish Council (objecting to the application) and the 
other from a local resident (Mr B W) in support of the application. 

 
1.5 In addition to the representations that have been received, Rotherham MBC 

Licensing Service have put forward a number of conditions that should be 
added to the licence should it be granted, these have been discussed with the 
applicant who has agreed to offer these conditions for inclusion on the licence. 

 
 
2. Key Issues 
 

The application 
 

2.1 The applicant is seeking authority for the following licensable activities to take 
place at the premises: 
 

 Provision of regulated entertainment (in the form of live and recorded 
music – indoors only) between the hours of 0800hrs and 2300hrs 
Monday to Sunday. 
 

 Retail sale of alcohol (for consumption on the premises only) between 
the hours of 1100hrs and 2300hrs Monday to Sunday. 

 

2.2 The applicant has stated that the opening times of the premises are 0800hrs 
until 2300hrs Monday to Sunday. 
 
As this application refers to the provision regulated entertainment (live and 

recorded music) the report author would like to draw members attention to 

Page 5



 
 
 

section 2.13 (important considerations in relation to regulated entertainment) 

and section 3.17 (conditions relating specifically to regulated entertainment). 

Conditions agreed with Rotherham MBC Licensing Service 

 

2.3 The applicant has engaged with the Council’s Licensing Service and has 
agreed a number of conditions that are considered appropriate for the 
promotion of the Licensing Objectives.  Further detail is provided at Appendix 3 
to this report. 
 

2.4 The conditions detailed in Appendix 3 will be added to the licence should the 
Sub-Committee decide to grant the application under consideration. 
 

 

Representations received 

 

2.5 Two representation have been received, one from Wickersley Parish Council 

and the other from a local resident (Mr B W).   

 

2.6 The representation from Wickersley Parish Council cited the following concerns 

in objection to the application: 

 

 That the premises could be used principally as a drinking establishment 

which could add to the cumulative impact of premises already in the 

area. 

 Worsening of the existing issues already prevalent in the area. 

 

2.7 Full details of the representation can be found in Appendix 4. 

 

2.8 Since the submission of this representation, the Parish Council have been 

approached and asked to consider the validity of the representation in light of 

the conditions agreed with the Licensing Service.  The Parish Council provided 

the following in response: 

“Wickersley Parish Council are not satisfied that the proposed conditions 

satisfy our concerns. The requirement for the premises to operate primarily as 

a cafe/restaurant with the sale of alcohol being ancillary is not sufficiently 

precise to allow effective enforcement as it is open to interpretation and would 

still allow a significant patronage visiting simply to drink. This would be of 

particular concern with regard to evening events even if these need to be pre-

booked. 

The Parish Council consider that the conditions should be consistent with those 

imposed on the proposed restaurant known as ‘Seasons’ on the other side of 

Bawtry Road. It is therefore the view of the Parish Council that the first 

condition should require the premises to operate solely as a café / restaurant 

Page 6



 
 
 

with alcohol served only to seated customers as an accompaniment to food. 

The Parish Council consider that it is entirely reasonable to impose such tight 

restrictions to avoid additional adverse impact from yet another licensed 

premise in Wickersley.” 

2.9 The applicant was approached and did not accept the addition of a condition on 

the licence along the lines proposed by the Parish Council.  In response th 

Parish Council made the following submission (25th August): 

“Further to the response from Fika Coffee Lounge with regards to their 

application for 212, Bawtry Road, Wickersley, the Parish Council have 

considered the matter further. 

“The Parish Council appreciate that the proposed operating model should not 

cause nuisance to local residents and that a coffee lounge selling breakfasts, 

brunch, lunches and afternoon teas will be a welcome addition to the current 

provision in Wickersley. We also have no objection to a limited number of pre-

booked evening events of the type proposed so long as alcohol is only served 

as an accompaniment to food. 

However, we have a remaining concern that, should the premises change 

hands at a future date, the suggested licence conditions would not prevent the 

premises being used as a mixed use cafe and bar so long as the primary use 

remained a cafe/restaurant. We have seen this happening at other venues 

within Wickersley.  

We would therefore like to see the suggested condition 1 being amended to 

read ‘The premises shall operate primarily as a coffee shop/restaurant with 

alcohol served only with a substantial food provision or buffet. ‘ 

The Parish Council considers this would allow Fika Coffee Lounge to operate 

as intended and allay our concerns about its future use.” 

2.10 Due to time constraints, the above proposal has not been brought to the 

attention of the applicant.  In addition, the Licensing Service are of the view that 

such a condition would be unenforceable in the absence of a clear definition of 

terms such as “substantial” and “buffet”. 

 

2.11 The second representation was from a local resident, Mr B W.  Mr B W was 

supportive of the application and cited the following: 

 

 That the proposed usage of the premises is unlikely to generate 

criminal or disorderly conduct. 

 The positive impact of the premises for the local community. 

 Availability of alternative enforcement sanctions should issues arise at 

the premises. 

 

Page 7



 
 
 

2.12 Full details of the representation can be found in Appendix 5. 

 

2.13 Those that have made representations have been invited to the hearing today 

and if attending will be given the opportunity to address the Sub-Committee in 

relation to the matters of concern. 

 

2.14 Members of the Sub-Committee should give full consideration of the issues 

raised by interested party when determining the application. 

 

Important considerations in relation to Regulated Entertainment 

2.15 As the applicant has indicated an intention for there to be live and / or recorded 

music at the premises, it is important that the following information is brought to 

the attention of the Licensing Committee. 

 

2.16 There are a number of exemptions that mean that a licence (or other 

authorisation) under the 2003 Act is not required. The following activities are 

examples of entertainment which are not licensable:  

 

 Incidental music – the performance of live music or the playing of recorded 
music if it is incidental to some other activity (see below).  

 A spontaneous performance of music, singing or dancing.  

 Stand-up comedy. 
 
2.17 Whether or not music is “incidental” to another activity will depend on the facts 

of each case. In considering whether or not live or recorded music is incidental, 
one relevant factor could be whether, against a background of the other 
activities already taking place, the addition of music will create the potential to 
undermine the promotion of one or more of the four licensing objectives of the 
2003 Act. Other factors might include some or all of the following:  

 

 Is the music the main, or one of the main, reasons for people attending the 
premises and being charged?  

 Is the music advertised as the main attraction?  

 Does the volume of the music disrupt or predominate over other activities, 
or could it be described as ‘background’ music?  

 
2.18 In addition to the above, as a result of deregulatory changes that have 

amended the 2003 Act, no licence is required for the following activities:  

 

 Live music: no licence permission is required for:  
 

o a performance of unamplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 
on any day, on any premises.  

o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on 
any day on premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on 
those premises. 

Page 8



 
 
 

o a performance of amplified live music between 08.00 and 23.00 on 
any day, in a workplace that does not have a licence, provided that 
the audience does not exceed 500 (a workplace could include an 
external area to a licensed premises – for example a beer garden or 
other outdoor space provided for patrons to consume alcohol). 

 

 Recorded Music: no licence permission is required for: 
 

o any playing of recorded music between 08.00 and 23.00 on any day 
on premises authorised to sell alcohol for consumption on those 
premises, provided that the audience does not exceed 500. 

 

2.19 The deregulatory changes mean that, for example, a performance of live music 

taking place between 07.00 and 23.30 on a particular day is licensable in 

respect of activities taking place between 07.00-08.00 and 23.00-23.30. 

Similarly, where the audience for a performance of recorded music, those 

activities are licensable if, and for so long as, the number of people in the 

audience exceeds 500.  

 

2.20 Anyone involved in the organisation or provision of entertainment activities – 

whether or not any such activity is licensable under the 2003 Act – must comply 

with any applicable duties that may be imposed by other legislation relevant to 

the event (e.g. in areas such as crime and disorder, fire, health and safety, 

noise, nuisance and planning).  Any such person should take steps to be aware 

of relevant best practice, and may find responsible authorities a useful source 

of expert support and advice.  

 

2.21 If the Licensing Committee grant the licence, and the licence includes 

permission for the retail sale of alcohol, then any live or recorded music taking 

place at the premises (subject to the above requirements) will not be licensable 

between the hours of 0800hrs and 2300hrs.  In addition, any conditions that are 

applied to live or recorded music will not be effective during these hours 

(subject to certain conditions being met).  Further detail in relation to conditions 

is contained within section 3 of this report. 

 
3. Options available to the Licensing Sub-Committee 
  
3.1 A licensing authority must carry out its functions under the Licensing Act with a 

view to promoting the licensing objectives: 

 

 the prevention of crime and disorder 

 public safety 

 the prevention of public nuisance 

 the protection of children from harm 

 

Page 9



 
 
 

3.2 In considering this matter, the Committee should take into account any 

representations or objections that have been received from responsible 

authorities or other persons, and representations made by the applicant or 

premises user as the case may be. In reaching the decision, regard must also 

be had to relevant provisions of the national guidance and the Council’s 

licensing policy statement.  In relation to this application, the options available 

to the Committee are: 

 

 To grant the licence subject to the conditions consistent with the operating 

schedule accompanying the application, which the Panel may modify to 

such extent as they consider appropriate; or 

 

 To reject the whole or part of the application. 

 

3.3 The statutory guidance makes it clear that Licensing authorities are best placed 

to determine what actions are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing 

objectives in their areas. All licensing determinations should be considered on a 

case-by-case basis. They should take into account any representations or 

objections that have been received from responsible authorities or other 

persons, and representations made by the applicant or premises user as the 

case may be.  

 

3.4 The authority’s determination should be evidence-based, justified as being 

appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives and proportionate to 

what it is intended to achieve.  

 

3.5 Determination of whether an action or step is appropriate for the promotion of 

the licensing objectives requires an assessment of what action or step would 

be suitable to achieve that end. While this does not therefore require a 

licensing authority to decide that no lesser step will achieve the aim, the 

authority should aim to consider the potential burden that the condition would 

impose on the premises licence holder (such as the financial burden due to 

restrictions on licensable activities) as well as the potential benefit in terms of 

the promotion of the licensing objectives. However, it is imperative that the 

authority ensures that the factors which form the basis of its determination are 

limited to consideration of the promotion of the objectives and nothing outside 

those parameters. The licensing authority should consider wider issues such as 

other conditions already in place to mitigate potential negative impact on the 

promotion of the licensing objectives and the track record of the business (if 

appropriate).  

 

3.6 The licensing authority is expected to come to its determination based on an 

assessment of the evidence on both the risks and benefits either for or against 

Page 10



 
 
 

making the determination.  Conditions may be placed on the licence (if granted) 

– further information in relation to conditions is provided later in this report.  

 

3.7 All licensing determinations should be considered on the individual merits of the 

application.  The authority’s determination should be evidence-based, justified 

as being appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives and 

proportionate to what it is intended to achieve. Findings on any issues of fact 

should be on the balance of probability. 

 

3.8 It is important that a licensing authority should give comprehensive reasons for 

its decisions in anticipation of any appeals. Failure to give adequate reasons 

could itself give rise to grounds for an appeal. 

 

 

 

Conditions 

 

3.9 Conditions include any limitations or restrictions attached to a licence or 

certificate and essentially are the steps or actions that the holder of the 

premises licence or the club premises certificate will be required to take or 

refrain from taking in relation to the carrying on of licensable activities at the 

premises in question. Failure to comply with any condition attached to a licence 

or certificate is a criminal offence, which on conviction is punishable by an 

unlimited fine or up to six months’ imprisonment. The courts have made clear 

that it is particularly important that conditions which are imprecise or difficult for 

a licence holder to observe should be avoided.  

 

3.10 There are three types of condition that may be attached to a licence or 

certificate: proposed, imposed and mandatory. Each of these categories is 

described in more detail below.  

 

Proposed conditions  

 

3.11 The conditions that are appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives 

should emerge initially from the risk assessment carried out by a prospective 

licence or certificate holder, which they should carry out before making their 

application for a premises licence or club premises certificate. This would be 

translated into the steps recorded in the operating schedule or club operating 

schedule, which must also set out the proposed hours during which licensable 

activities will be conducted and any other hours during which the premises will 

be open to the public.  

 

Page 11



 
 
 

3.12 It is not acceptable for licensing authorities to simply replicate the wording from 

an applicant’s operating schedule. A condition should be interpreted in 

accordance with the applicant’s intention.  

 

Consistency with steps described in operating schedule  

 

3.13 The 2003 Act provides that where an operating schedule or club operating 

schedule has been submitted with an application and there have been no 

relevant representations made by responsible authorities or any other person, 

the licence or certificate must be granted subject only to such conditions as are 

consistent with the schedule accompanying the application and any mandatory 

conditions required under the 2003 Act.  

 

3.14 Consistency means that the effect of the condition should be substantially the 

same as that intended by the terms of the operating schedule. If conditions are 

broken, this may lead to a criminal prosecution or an application for a review 

and it is extremely important therefore that they should be expressed on the 

licence or certificate in unequivocal and unambiguous terms. The duty imposed 

by conditions on the licence holder or club must be clear to the licence holder, 

club, enforcement officers and the courts.  

 

Imposed conditions  

 

3.15 The licensing authority may not impose any conditions unless its discretion has 

been exercised following receipt of relevant representations and it is satisfied 

as a result of a hearing (unless all parties agree a hearing is not necessary) 

that it is appropriate to impose conditions to promote one or more of the four 

licensing objectives. In order to promote the crime prevention licensing 

objective conditions may be included that are aimed at preventing illegal 

working in licensed premises.  

 

3.16 It is possible that in some cases no additional conditions will be appropriate to 

promote the licensing objectives.  

 

Conditions relating specifically to live and recorded music 

 

3.17 Any existing licence conditions (or conditions added on a determination of an 

application for a premises licence) which relate to live music or recorded music 

remain in place, but are suspended between the hours of 08.00 and 23.00 on 

the same day where the following conditions are met:  

 

 at the time of the music entertainment, the premises are open for the 

purposes of being used for the sale or supply of alcohol for 

consumption on the premises;  

Page 12



 
 
 

 if the music is amplified, it takes place before an audience of no more 

than 500 people; and  

 the music takes place between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same day.  

 

3.18 Whether a licence condition relates to live or recorded music will be a matter of 

fact in each case. In some instances, it will be obvious that a condition relates 

to music and will be suspended, for example “during performances of live 

music all doors and windows must remain closed”. In other instances, it might 

not be so obvious: for example, a condition stating “during performances of 

regulated entertainment all doors and windows must remain closed” would be 

suspended insofar as it relates to music between 08.00 and 23.00 on the same 

day to an audience of up to 500, but the condition would continue to apply if 

there was regulated entertainment after 23.00.  

 

3.19 More general licence conditions (e.g. those relating to overall management of 

potential noise nuisance) that are not specifically related to the provision of 

entertainment (e.g. signage asking patrons to leave quietly) will continue to 

have effect.  

 

3.20 Licence conditions imposed for live or recorded music activities will only apply if 

the activity meets the criteria of having more than 500 people present, and / or 

the activities are taking place between 23.00 and 08.00.  

 

3.21 These conditions will, in effect, be suspended between 08.00 and 23.00 if a 

performance of live music or the playing of recorded music takes place before 

an audience of 500 people or fewer, but will remain on the face of the licence 

for when these activities may take place under other circumstances.  

 

3.22 Where a performance of live music or the playing of recorded music on relevant 

licensed premises is not licensable, it remains possible for anyone to apply for 

a review of a licence or certificate, if there are appropriate grounds to do so.  

 

Proportionality  

 

3.23 The 2003 Act requires that licensing conditions should be tailored to the size, 

type, location and characteristics and activities taking place at the premises 

concerned. Conditions should be determined on a case-by-case basis and 

standardised conditions which ignore these individual aspects should be 

avoided. For example, conditions should not be used to implement a general 

policy in a given area such as the use of CCTV, polycarbonate drinking vessels 

or identity scanners where they would not be appropriate to the specific 

premises. Conditions that are considered appropriate for the prevention of 

illegal working in premises licensed to sell alcohol or late night refreshment 

might include requiring a premises licence holder to undertake right to work 

Page 13



 
 
 

checks on all staff employed at the licensed premises or requiring that a copy 

of any document checked as part of a right to work check is retained at the 

licensed premises. Licensing authorities and other responsible authorities 

should be alive to the indirect costs that can arise because of conditions. These 

could be a deterrent to holding events that are valuable to the community or for 

the funding of good and important causes. Licensing authorities should 

therefore ensure that any conditions they impose are only those which are 

appropriate for the promotion of the licensing objectives. 

 
4. Consultation  
 
4.1 The application has been subject to the statutory consultation process involving 

a newspaper advertisement and display of public notices in the vicinity of the 
site for 28 days.  

 

4.2 The public consultation period ended on 13th August 2021.  
 

4.3 All Responsible Authorities, relevant ward members, and the Town / Parish 
Council have been notified of the application and all statutory requirements in 
relation to notification requirements have been complied with. 

 

 

5. Timetable and Accountability for Implementing this Decision 
 
5.1 Any decision made by the Licensing Sub-Committee does not have effect until: 
 

 the end of the period given for appealing against the decision; or 

 

 if the decision is appealed, until the appeal is disposed of. 

 
5.2 An appeal may be lodged by either the applicant or a party to the hearing that 

has made a relevant representation. 
 

5.3 Parties to the hearing must be informed of the decision within 5 working days of 
the hearing (or within 5 working days from the last day of the hearing if it takes 
place over multiple days). 

 
 
6. Financial Implications 
 
6.1 There are no specific financial implications arising from this application.   

 

6.2 However, additional costs may be incurred should the matter go to appeal.  In 

such an eventuality it may not be possible to recover all of the costs incurred.  

The impact of these additional costs (if any) will therefore need to be met from 

within existing revenue budgets.  

Page 14



 
 
 

 
7. Legal Advice and Implications  
 
7.1 A Council Solicitor will be in attendance at the hearing to provide appropriate 

legal advice to the Licensing Sub-Committee in relation to specific aspects of 

the application / hearing, however the advice below is generally applicable to all 

applications. 

 
7.2 Hearings under the Licensing Act 2003 operate under the Licensing Act 2003 

(Hearings) Regulations 2005. 

 
7.3 In accordance with Regulation 18 of the Licensing Act 2003 (Hearings) 

Regulations 2005, the authority may take into account documentary or other 

information produced by a party in support of their application, representations 

or notice either before the hearing or, with the consent of all parties, at the 

hearing. 

 

7.4 The Panel may accept hearsay evidence and it will be a matter for the 

Licensing Sub-Committee to attach what weight to it that they consider 

appropriate. Hearsay evidence is evidence of something that a witness neither 

saw nor heard, but has heard or read about. 

 

7.5 The Secretary of State’s guidance to the Licensing Act 2003 is provided to 

licensing authorities in relation to the carrying out of their functions under the 

2003 Act. It also provides information to magistrates’ courts hearing appeals 

against licensing decisions and has been made widely available for the benefit 

of those who run licensed premises, their legal advisers and the general public. 

It is a key medium for promoting best practice, ensuring consistent application 

of licensing powers across England and Wales and for promoting fairness, 

equal treatment and proportionality. 

 

7.6 Section 4 of the 2003 Act provides that, in carrying out its functions, a licensing 

authority must ‘have regard to’ guidance issued by the Secretary of State under 

section 182. The guidance is therefore binding on all licensing authorities to 

that extent. However, the guidance cannot anticipate every possible scenario or 

set of circumstances that may arise and, as long as licensing authorities have 

properly understood this guidance, they may depart from it if they have good 

reason to do so and can provide full reasons. 

 

7.7 In addition to the above, members are reminded that all decisions must be 

taken in accordance with the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy (adopted 

3rd June 2020). 

 

7.8 Departure from the guidance and / or Statement of Licensing Policy could give 

rise to an appeal or judicial review, and the reasons given will then be a key 

Page 15



 
 
 

consideration for the courts when considering the lawfulness and merits of any 

decision taken. 

 

Cumulative Impact Policy 

 

7.9 As this application relates to a premises in Wickersley, the application falls 

within the scope of the Council’s Cumulative Impact Policy.  This policy is 

attached for information as Appendix 6. 

 

7.10 The Cumulative Impact Policy makes reference to a Cumulative Impact 

Assessment that has been carried out in the Wickersley area (in accordance 

with Section 5(a) of the Licensing Act 2003).  

 

7.11 The assessment has been published as the Council believe that the number of 

licensed premises within the area described in the assessment is such that 

granting any further licences, or varying existing licenses, would be inconsistent 

with the Council’s duty under the Act to promote the licensing objectives.  

There is therefore a presumption against the granting of new (or the varying of 

existing) licences in the area covered by the assessment. 

 

7.12 When considering the presumption against granting or varying a licence in a 

CIZ, the Council must be satisfied that the applicant will not impact any further 

on the cumulative impact of existing licensed premises.  

 

7.13 Applicants may suggest measures which they believe will demonstrate there 

will be no further impact from their premise. Examples that the Council may 

consider as demonstrating that there will be no further impact include:  

 

 Small premises who operate outside of the peak hours of disruption, as 

described in the CIA. 

 Premises which are not alcohol-led and operate during the day-time 

economy. 

 Instances where a business is relocating to a new premise but retaining 

the same style of business. 

 Conditions which ensure the premise will operate in a particular 

manner, such as a minimum number of waiting staff to secure a food-

led premise. 

 

7.14 Examples of factors the Council will not consider include:  

 

 That the premise will be well managed and well run.  

 That the premise will be constructed to a high specification 

 That the applicant operates similar premises in other areas without 

complaint.  

Page 16



 
 
 

 

7.15 Any representation made which supports the grant of a licence within a 

Cumulative Impact Zone will also be taken into account by the Council.  

 
 

8. Risks and Mitigation 
 
8.1 The statutory requirements in relation to the consideration of this application 

are detailed in this report.  It is essential that the Sub-Committee act in 
accordance with these statutory provisions and take account of statutory 
guidance. 
 

8.2 Failure to do this exposes the Council to significant risk of legal challenge, the 
consequences of which could result in financial and / or reputational damage to 
the Council. 

 

8.3 Members are therefore urged to fully consider the information in this report 
when making a decision regarding this application, and to ensure that any 
decision made is justifiable, proportionate and based on the promotion of one 
or more of the Licensing Objectives. 
 

8.4 Council officers are present at the meeting today and can provide additional 
advice to members of the Sub-Committee should this be required.  In addition, 
a copy of the statutory guidance and Statement of Licensing Policy is available 
for members to review should they wish to do so.  

 
 
9. Accountable Officer(s) 

 
Alan Pogorzelec, Licensing Manager, Community Safety and Street Scene 

 
 
This report is published on the Council's website.  
 

  

Page 17

https://moderngov.rotherham.gov.uk/ieDocHome.aspx?Categories=


 
 
 

Hearing Procedure  
 
1 The Chair of the Licensing Committee will introduce the Committee and 

ask officers to introduce themselves. 

 

2 The Chair will ask the applicants to formally introduce themselves. 
 
3 The Licensing Officer will outline the procedure to be followed at the 

hearing. 
 

4 Hearing Procedure:- 

 
i. The Licensing Officer will introduce the report. 

 
ii. Questions concerning the report can be asked both by Members and the 

applicant. 
 

iii. The Licensing Officer will introduce the applicant / licensee (or his/her 
nominated representative) who will then be asked to detail the application.  
 

iv. The Licensing Officer will introduce in turn representatives for the 
Responsible Authority and Interested Parties who will be asked to detail their 
relevant representations. 
 

v. Members may ask questions of those parties 
 

vi. With the leave of the Chair the applicant or his representative may ask 
questions of the representatives of the Responsible Authorities and 
Interested Parties. 

 
vii. The applicant / licensee (or his/her nominated representative) may then be 

asked questions by members and with the leave of the Chair from the other 
parties present. 
 

viii. The applicant / licensee (or his/her nominated representative) will then be 
given the opportunity to sum up the application and provide any clarification. 
The Licensing Officer will then detail the options. 
 

ix. There will then be a private session for members to take legal advice and 
consider the application. 

 
5 The decision of the Licensing Committee will be given in accordance with 

the requirements of the Licensing Act 2003 and regulations made there 
under. 
 

Notes: 

 At any time in the Licensing Process Members of the Committee may request 
legal advice from the Solicitor to the Committee. This advice may be given in 
open session or in private. 

 The Committee Hearing will be held in public unless and in accordance with 
the Regulations the Committee determine that the public should be excluded. 

 

Page 18



APPEN
DIX 1 

P
age 19



APPEN
DIX 1 

P
age 20



 

APPEN
DIX 1 

P
age 21



 

APPEN
DIX 1 

P
age 22



APPENDIX 2
Page 23



APPENDIX 2
Page 24



APPENDIX 2
Page 25



APPENDIX 2
Page 26



APPENDIX 2
Page 27



APPENDIX 2
Page 28



APPENDIX 2
Page 29



APPENDIX 2
Page 30



APPENDIX 2
Page 31



APPENDIX 2
Page 32



APPENDIX 2
Page 33



APPENDIX 2
Page 34



APPENDIX 2
Page 35



APPENDIX 2
Page 36



APPENDIX 2
Page 37



APPENDIX 2
Page 38



APPENDIX 2
Page 39



APPENDIX 2
Page 40



APPENDIX 2
Page 41



APPENDIX 2
Page 42



APPENDIX 2
Page 43



APPENDIX 2
Page 44



APPENDIX 2
Page 45



APPENDIX 2
Page 46



APPENDIX 2
Page 47



APPENDIX 2
Page 48



APPENDIX 2
Page 49



Application for a premises licence in respect of Fika Coffee Lounge 212 
Bawtry Road, Wickersley S66 1AA. 

Licensing Authority proposed conditions. 

1. The premises shall operate primarily as a coffee shop/restaurant. The sale
of alcohol without food will always remain as an ancillary part of the main
use of the premises as a coffee shop/restaurant.

2. The premises will not operate exclusively as a bar.
3. After 18.00hrs the premises licence holder shall ensure admittance to the

premises is as part of a pre-booked event or group booking. No customer
shall be permitted to enter the premises after 18.00hrs unless part of the
pre-booked event.

4. Customers shall not be permitted to take vessels containing alcoholic
products into the premises, and no open vessels containing alcoholic
products shall be allowed to be taken from the premises.

5. The licence holder shall ensure that consumption of alcohol does not take
place within the customer car parks and is contained to the inside of the
premises as defined on the plan.

6. The licence holder shall ensure that no promotional offers on prices of
alcohol are offered.

7. All staff involved in the sale of alcohol shall receive training in underage
sales, serving to persons in drink and how to deal with abusive and
aggressive customers.

8. Staff refresher training shall take place on an annual basis and be recorded.
9. New staff shall receive induction training at the commencement of their

employment at the premises, including drug awareness, underage sales
training, and serving to persons in drink. This training shall be recorded.

10. An incident register shall be maintained and kept on site at all times to
record all incidents involving anti-social behaviour, injury and ejections from
the premises. The register shall include consecutively numbered pages in a
bound format and include the time, date and location of the incident, and
details of the nature of the incident and names of any other staff involved or
to whom the incident was reported.

11. This register shall be made available for inspection by South Yorkshire
Police or Local Authority Enforcement Officers immediately upon request.

12. A refusals register shall be maintained and kept on site at all times to record
all incidents involving refusal to serve alcohol at the premises. The register
shall include consecutively numbered pages in a bound format and include
the time, date and location of the refusal, staff member challenging the sale
and identification checked.

APPENDIX 3
Page 50



13. This register shall be checked by the premises licence holder, DPS or 
suitable trained nominated member of staff on a weekly basis and signed.  

14. This register shall be made available for inspection by South Yorkshire 
Police or Local Authority Enforcement Officers immediately upon request.  

15. The premises licence holder shall adopt an age verification scheme which 
incorporates Challenge 25. 

16. A CCTV system shall be installed at the premises which has 28-day 
recording and retrieval and be capable of downloading onto a portable 
storage device such as DVD or memory stick.  

17. The CCTV cameras shall cover the entire premises, including the till area 
where payment is made for alcohol and all areas in which members of the 
public have access. The location of the monitor to allow playback and 
retrieval of data shall be located in an area which is easily and safely 
accessible to Police Officers and Local Authority Officers. 

18. At least one current staff member shall be trained in the use of the system 
to ensure rapid data retrieval and download is retrieved should it be 
required by a Police Officer or Council Licensing Enforcement Officer. Any 
footage requested shall be made available in any event within 24 hours. 

19. Customers shall be reminded by way of clear and prominent notices at the 
entrance/exit door to please leave the premises quietly and have 
consideration for any neighbouring residential or business properties. 

20. The licence holder shall undertake a risk assessment of the premises to 
determine whether door supervisors shall be required. 

21. No external speakers shall be fixed to the exterior of the premises. 
22. The licence holder shall ensure regular glass collecting is undertaken to 

ensure children under the age of 18 do not have access to open vessels 
containing alcoholic products.  

23. The licence holder shall ensure that regular checks are carried out outside 
of the premises to ensure that the area is free from litter and nuisance 
behaviour associated with the operation of the business. 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

APPENDIX 3
Page 51



REPRESENTATION BY WICKERSLEY PARISH COUNCIL TO LICENSING APPLICA-
TION FOR FIKA COFFEE LOUNGE, 212, BAWTRY ROAD, WICKERSLEY 

A licensing application has been sought for proposed premises to be known as Fika Coffee 
Lounge within the Tanyard shopping centre of Wickersley. These premises are currently 
vacant with planning consent granted in 2020 for change of use to a restaurant/cafe.  

The application seeks a license to supply alcohol on the premises from 11:00 to 23:00, 7 
days a week as well as play live and recorded music from 8:00 to 23:00. 

Rotherham MBC has adopted a Cumulative Impact Policy for the whole of Wickersley in 
recognition that the area is suffering from a high concentration of restaurants and bars in 
the village centre which has resulted in a number of adverse effects being experienced by 
the local population so far as 3 of the licensing objectives are concerned. These relate to 
excessive drinking and lack of capacity to move people from the area when the premises 
close; public nuisance through late night noise and disturbance, litter, broken glass etc; 
crime and disorder through higher crime associated with the late night economy and anti-
social behaviour impacting in particular on the higher than average elderly population in 
Wickersley. There is therefore now a presumption against granting any further license 
unless the applicant can demonstrate that their proposal will not further add to the impact 
already being felt from the existing licensed premises in Wickersley. 

There are already 11 licensed premises within Wickersley, 7 of which are restaurants (often 
with bars) and 4 drinking establishments representing 14% of the units within the village 
centre (79 commercial units in total). Furthermore, a further 3 former retail units are in the 
process of being converted to a restaurant (Seasons) having been granted a license after 
the Cumulative Impact Policy was adopted. Planning consent has also been granted 
recently to change an existing restaurant to a bar (The Garrison). Whilst that property 
already has a license to sell alcohol, the change of use to a drinking establishment with 
additional outside seating will significantly intensify the use of what was previously a low key 
cafe/restaurant. 

All of these factors mean that Wickersley Parish Council are very keen to ensure that no 
additional alcohol licenses should be granted unless the applicant can very clearly 
demonstrate that there will be no additional adverse impact on the local community and that 
the conditions imposed on the license can ensure that to be the case. 

The license application submitted for Fika Coffee Lounge does not currently provide 
sufficient information to satisfy the Parish Council that there will not be additional adverse 
impact from the premises and therefore wish to object to the granting of the license for the 
following reasons: 

• The application states that the premises are to operate as a coffee lounge providing food
and refreshments, serving alcohol on the premises as an accompaniment to meals while
seated in one of the seated areas.  However, there is a business in Rossington called Fika
Coffee and Wine Lounge which we assume is also operated by the applicants and where
the serving of alcohol is not always ancillary to a food offer but somewhere that customers
might go in the evening just for a drink.

• The application states that it is only intended to open in the evenings for private bookings
and special events organised by themselves. It says this could include special ticketed

APPENDIX 4
Page 52



 

 

events where live amplified music could be played. In the view of the Parish Council such 
events could be attended by large groups of people drinking significant amounts of alcohol 
with the potential to cause noise and disturbance when leaving the premises late in the 
evening, as well as the potential for anti-social behaviour. It is therefore not considered 
acceptable for the premises to provide private bookings or special events because this will 
inevitably add to the existing adverse impacts. 

 
Wickersley Parish Council consider that the applicants should be invited to address these 
concerns and to fully set out the business model they intend to operate at these premises. 
 
The Parish Council consider that it would only be acceptable to grant a license for these 
premises if they operate solely as a cafe/restaurant with alcohol served only to those seated 
and ancillary to a meal. It is considered that if customers visit the premises largely to drink 
alcohol rather than to eat then this would undoubtedly result in people leaving the premises 
intoxicated and would therefore exacerbate the issues already being experienced from the 
large number of licensed premises within Wickersley. 

APPENDIX 4
Page 53



Dear Sir or Madam, 

I write in support of this application. 

Wickersley thrives because it has to date always managed to adapt to changing times. It must 
continue to do so, and changes to the uses of the commercial premises in the village centre are an 
important part of that process. 

Everyone is familiar with the trend away from face‐to‐face goods retail and financial services, and 
towards online alternatives. There are however certain types of service that only work face‐to‐face, 
and Wickersley has embraced many of these, notably hair salons, beauticians, and even a tattoo 
parlour; but principally eating and drinking establishments, which have proliferated and diversified 
over recent years. This trend has ensured that premises that would otherwise have been void have 
in fact been productive, maintaining the street scene and the vibrancy of the village centre, and 
providing jobs for local people and a revenue stream for the landlords. There is a certain 'buzz' about 
the village centre nowadays, which has arisen as Wickersley has transformed from a place where 
people just undertook chore activities to one in which they also socialise, and the eating and 
drinking establishments have been vital to this progress. I am aware that there are some who hanker 
for the 'old days', but we cannot recreate the past, and I do not suppose that there is more than a 
small minority who would even want to. 

Fika Coffee Lounge will add to the diversity of Wickersley's eating and drinking scene. Its near 
neighbours, the Elif Turkish restaurant and the Bollywood curry house, have been assets to the 
village for some years, and a coffee lounge licensed for alcohol and music will be another 'good 
neighbour' eating and drinking establishment with a distinctive theme that differs from those of the 
established businesses. 

In specific regard to the licensing objectives, the applicants seek to run what is in effect Starbucks 
with the addition of music and cocktails, at a small scale. 

 There is no apparent reason why such an establishment would attract crime or disorder: it
would merely be a place where people would partake of beverages and light meals, and its
proposed layout is focused on the notion of small groups eating, drinking and socialising
while seated at tables. It is very far removed from the 'beer barn' concept, which is widely
and rightly considered to be an antisocial type of establishment.

 It follows that if the premises are inconducive to criminal or disorderly conduct, then there is
no expectation of nuisance or threats to public safety. In the particular case of noise
nuisance associated with amplified music, there exist enforcement measures in the event of
breaches of conditions, and coffee lounges are not in any case generally associated with
loud music.

 It is not unusual for small groups of youths to meet socially in coffee lounges. Where this
happens, it would be incumbent on the staff to provide a degree of supervision and to
ensure that no alcohol was served to minors. The latter policy would in any case be required
of the staff as a condition of an alcohol licence. It may indeed be argued that a group of
youths socialising in a well‐managed coffee lounge would be at less risk of harm than one
doing so on the street, and in this respect the applicants may in fact be proposing to
enhance the protection of children.

 Alcohol licences are revocable in the event that the licensing objectives are not met. The
Licensing Board therefore has effective sanctions if harms ensue from the grant of an alcohol
licence.

APPENDIX 5
Page 54



 It is reasonable to suppose that Fika Coffee Lounge would make no negative impact in 
regard to the licensing objectives, or at least no measurable negative impact. This being the 
case, the cumulative impact zone policy that applies in Wickersley would not come into 
scope. 

I thank you for your attention and ask that, after all due consideration, the requested licences be 
granted. 
 
Best regards, 
 
Bob Walsh 
5 Gillott Lane, 
Wickersley, 
ROTHERHAM, 
S66 1EH 
 

APPENDIX 5
Page 55



Rotherham Metropolitan Borough Council 

Cumulative Impact Policy 2020-2023 

Licensing Act 2003 

APPENDIX 6
Page 56



Background 

The concept of Cumulative Impact has been included within Section 182 Licensing 
Guidance issued by the Home Office since the implementation of the Licensing Act 
2003.  

The Licensing Act regulates the sale of alcohol, late night refreshment and the 
provision of entertainment. Section 5 of the Act requires licensing authorities to publish 
a Statement of Licensing Policy every five years (amended by the Police Reform and 
Social Responsibility Act). This Statement of Policy sets out the Council’s framework 
in regulating the trade.  

The Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy has been reviewed and consulted upon 
between June 2019 and March 2020. A reviewed policy was introduced in June 2020. 

The Policing and Crime Act 2017 gave Cumulative Impact a statutory basis and this 
is now included in primary legislation. A licensing authority may publish a ‘cumulative 
impact assessment’ stating that it considers that the number of premises licenses or 
club premises certificates is at such a level that it would be inconsistent with the 
promotion of the licensing objectives to grant any further licences or certificates in that 
area and restrict changes to licensable activities of existing licenses.  

The inclusion of cumulative impact within primary legislation gives licensing authorities 
a prescribed method for implementing cumulative impact assessments and provides 
guidance for the level of evidence required for an assessment to be successfully 
included and upheld. This part of the Act was commenced in April 2018, alongside 
revised Section 182 Guidance issues to licensing authorities.  

Prior to this change in legislation, the Council had not published a Cumulative Impact 
Policy. However, as this is now part of primary legislation, the Council believes this is 
the correct time to identify any areas that may benefit from the introduction of a 
Cumulative Impact Assessment.  

Any cumulative impact assessment must set out the evidence for the authority’s 
opinion, must be consulted upon before it is published, must be reviewed every three 
years as a minimum, and any review must be consulted upon and any revisions must 
be published alongside an evidence base.  

APPENDIX 6
Page 57



Implementing a Cumulative Impact Assessment 

Publishing a cumulative impact assessment sets a strong statement of intent about 
the approach that will be taken when considering applications for the grant and 
variation of premises licenses or club premises certificates in the area described. The 
Council will have regard to the assessment when determining or revising the 
Statement of Licensing Policy, as well as when making determinations alongside the 
Section 182 guidance.  

Any cumulative impact assessment does not change the fundamental principles of 
which licensing decisions are determined and the Council reserves the right to grant 
an application where it is appropriate and demonstrates through the operating 
schedule that the applicant would not add to the cumulative impact of the area in which 
they are applying.  

However, the Council would expect an applicant to consider the potential cumulative 
impact of their licence on local issues when setting out the steps that will be taken to 
promote the licensing objectives. An applicant must be able to demonstrate to the 
Council and other responsible authorities that granting a new or varied licence will not 
add to the cumulative impact already being experienced within the area.  

This policy does not create a ban on the grant of licenses within the assessed zone 
and the Council can only consider cumulative impact to refuse an application if one or 
more relevant representations are made. Where no representation is received, the 
Council must grant the licence, as stated in the Licensing Act 2003.  

Therefore, a cumulative impact assessment does not reduce the onus placed on 
responsible authorities, local residents or residents’ groups in making representations 
where they consider this necessary in order to uphold and promote the licensing 
objectives. This policy gives a basis of information which can be used when making a 
representation; a representation can be made just on the fact that an assessment has 
been published. Any person making a representation must be able to demonstrate 
that the representation withstands the scrutiny which it will be subjected to at a 
Licensing Committee, or sub-committee meeting.  

The obligation to demonstrate that the application is suitable for the area is placed 
onto the applicant. An applicant must suitably evidence that their proposal will not add 
to the cumulative impact within the area. To assist this process, the Council 
recommends early consultation with responsible authorities. This can be achieved 
separately with each responsible authority, or through the Council’s Licensing service. 

APPENDIX 6
Page 58



Evidencing a Cumulative Impact Assessment 

This Cumulative Impact Assessment has been carried out in accordance with Section 
5a of the Licensing Act 2003.  

A large variety of data has been included for analysis within this policy, to evidence 
the need for a Cumulative Impact Assessment. The following methods and data have 
been included in this policy:  

Public Health Licensing Toolkit: 

As a responsible authority, Public Health has a meaningful contribution to make to 
licensing decisions. However, as health is not explicitly mentioned as part of any 
licensing objective, it is challenging for Public Health to fully engage with licensing 
decision making. However, the Council believe that Public Health has an important 
role to play within Licensing and should be encouraged to influence the process, within 
the boundaries of the legislation. 

One way in which Public Health are now able to input into licensing decisions is 
through a ‘toolkit’, which uses a wide range of data from responsible authorities, 
including public health. This toolkit has created a rating system of each Lower Super 
Output Area (LSOA) within the borough to inform decision makers of the ‘risk rating’ 
associated to the location of any application.  

The data sources included have been chosen due to their relevance to the licensing 
objectives, alongside contextual factors such as health data which allows decision-
makers to understand the wider implications of granting an application within certain 
areas. All responsible authorities, as well as the public, will have access to this toolkit 
and can use it when deciding to make a representation against a licence, or when 
negotiating appropriate licensing conditions.  

This toolkit is in-line with recommendations made by Public Health England. 

Police and Crime Data: 

South Yorkshire Police publish crime data monthly through the police data portal 
(data.police.gov.uk). This data has been used alongside confidential intelligence 
reports shared between the police and its partner agencies, including the Council. 
These reports focus on specific areas and give further information and analysis around 
particular areas and its associated crime.  

All crime data records offence type, location, date and time which has been used to 
analyse crime statistics within the borough. Although a borough-wide assessment has 
been undertaken, only relevant information to the Cumulative Impact Assessments 

APPENDIX 6
Page 59



undertaken has been included within this report. This is partly due to the sensitive 
nature of some crime statistics and some of these are not able to be published. Further 
information is available through the Licensing Service if needed.  

Community Protection and Regulation Data: 

Data provided by the Community Protection and Regulation service was focused on 
noise complaints which are recorded by the Environmental Health unit. This data 
stores information regarding every noise complaint which is sent to the Council, 
alongside the case information which is updated as and when the Council assess the 
complaint received.  

Public Consultation: 

In June 2019, the Cabinet took the decision to undertake a two-stage consultation 
process in reviewing the Licensing Act 2003 Statement of Licensing Policy. The first 
stage of this consultation focused on broad issues to help guide the focus of the 
revised policy and gauge the local position in terms of licensing issues.  

As part of the first stage of consultation, members of the public were invited to engage 
with the Council to highlight particular areas where the number or density of licensed 
premises were causing an issue which may undermine the licensing objectives. 
Officers also attended six drop-in sessions across the borough in areas where there 
are a high number of premises and statistically, higher levels of issues associated to 
licensed premises such as anti-social behaviour. This consultation survey received 70 
responses whilst approximately 50 residents attended drop-in sessions, although 80% 
of those residents attended the session in Wickersley.  

A further consultation period occurred between January and February 2020 which 
asked specific questions regarding Cumulative Impact Assessments and the issues 
associated to a large number of licensed premises. The survey received 41 responses 
whilst approximately 40 residents attended drop-in sessions, although all but two of 
these residents attended the session in Wickersley.  

An assessment of the above data brought to attention two main areas of interest in 
regards to Cumulative Impact. These are:  

1. Rotherham Town Centre
2. Wickersley

APPENDIX 6
Page 60



These became areas of focus after the first stage of consultation and other areas 
should be considered out of scope for the remainder of this policy. However, this could 
be reviewed at a later stage if further evidence became apparent.  

 

Rotherham Town Centre:  

Rotherham Town Centre is the largest urban centre within the borough. 

The data provided through the consultation process shows that crime, anti-social 
behaviour and environmental health rates are at their highest in this area and that 
there could be links between these statistics and licensed premises, although this does 
reflect the town centre being the largest urban centre in the borough.  

The Council is looking to encourage responsible licensable activity within the Town 
Centre to create a thriving and bustling historic market town as part of its ambition set 
out in the Town Centre Masterplan.  This vision relies on diversifying the offer within 
the Town Centre, creating new leisure and entertainment venues incorporating places 
to eat out, as well as bars and cafes. Currently, the density of licensed premises in the 
centre is decreasing, meaning that CIA may have very little use.  

The focus on improving licensed premises in the town centre should focus on those 
premises that are already licensed. There are a number of measures in place to 
improve the centre, including a Public Space Protection Order, alongside significant 
resource deployed by responsible authorities.  

Currently, the Council believe that the Town Centre would not benefit from a 
Cumulative Impact Zone. Taking a decision to implement a zone may detract from the 
overarching ambition of regenerating the Town Centre and attracting new businesses, 
increasing footfall and diversifying the current offer. However, this decision will be 
regularly reviewed and amended if the licensing objectives are being undermined 
within the town centre.  

The Town Centre Masterplan also focuses on improving the residential offer which 
could mean that a Cumulative Impact Assessment may be relevant in the future.  

 

Wickersley:  

Wickersley is a village which is situated on the urban fringe of Rotherham town centre. 
Although the village is well served by road, with direct links to the M1, M18 and A1(M) 
motorways, it is a settled, residential community with distinct heritage and associated 
characteristics. It has a population of approximately 8,000 people, with 23% of people 
aged over 65 (compared to an average of 19.4%), whilst having significantly less 
young people than the borough average, at just 26% aged under 24, compared to an 
average of 29.2%.  

APPENDIX 6
Page 61



There are currently nineteen premises within Wickersley. In total, sixteen premises are 
located along a 300 metre section of Bawtry Road, with all nineteen located within a 
350 metre radius of one another. Of these nineteen premises, ten are on-licensed 
drinking establishments. 

In recent years, Wickersley has become an urban centre with a significantly increased 
range and number of licensed premises. The area attracts a large amount of people 
from across the borough and surrounding areas of South Yorkshire. Currently, the 
density of premises within Wickersley West LSOA is 37.6 premises per square 
kilometre (pkm2). Across the broader Middle Super Output Area (MSOA) of Bramley 
and Wickersley, the average density is 12.7 pkm2, whilst the average across the 
borough is 2.2 pkm2. The MSOA covering Rotherham Town Centre has a density of 
23.6 pkm2, which suggests that proportionately, Wickersley’s evening economy is the 
busiest within Rotherham.  

However, the centre does not have the required infrastructure to deal with a large and 
sustained night-time economy, and the current number of licensed premises is 
negatively impacting the largely residential properties that are in close proximity to 
designated retail space.  

There are less resources designated to Wickersley currently by the responsible 
authorities to deal with the impacts of licensed premises, which maximises the impact 
of these premises on those who live there.  

The Council believes that the number of licensed premises within Wickersley is at such 
a level that it would be inconsistent with the promotion of the licensing objectives to 
grant any further licenses or certificates in the area, and restrict any changes to 
licensable activities of existing licences.  

 

 

 

 

  

APPENDIX 6
Page 62



Wickersley Cumulative Impact Assessment 
 

 

The Wickersley Cumulative Impact Zone (CIZ) is situated in the centre of Wickersley 
and covers parts of both the Wickersley and Hellaby wards. Bawtry Road acts as a 
boundary between the two wards and this runs throughout the zone. The CIZ is related 
to the sale of alcohol for consumption on, or on and off the premises, including 
premises such as, but not limited to, pubs, bars, late night opening restaurants and 
clubs. The CIZ is saturated with premises of these types.  

This zone has been selected by overlaying current premises, LSOA boundaries, local 
plan data, crime, anti-social behaviour, noise complaints and areas which were raised 
by residents through consultation. The zone is the outcome of this analysis.  

Whilst each individual premise may comply with their licence conditions, and where 
problems are found they can be dealt with through action plans, or subsequently a 
review of the licence, this particular zone has become saturated as new businesses 
open, or existing businesses vary the use of a particular premise.  

The Council considers the number of premises licences or club premises certificates 
is at such a level that it would be inconsistent with the promotion of the licensing 
objectives to grant any further licences or certificates in the Wickersley Cumulative 
Impact Zone, and to restrict changes to licensable activities of existing licenses.  

Therefore, it is the Council’s policy on receipt of relevant representations that 
applications for the sale of alcohol for consumption on, or on and off, the premises will 
be refused, unless the applicant can show that their licensed premise would not 
increase the impact of such premises on the zone, as described in this assessment.  

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with permission Of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown copyright. 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  
Rotherham MBC Licence No. 100019587. 

APPENDIX 6
Page 63



To set out the Council’s opinion, evidence has been gathered from the responsible 
authorities and residents. This data has been divided into the four licensing objectives.  

 

1. Public Safety 

The Public Safety licensing objective concerns the physical safety of people whilst 
within the vicinity of licensed premises. This includes both the prevention of 
accidents and the immediate harms that can result from alcohol consumption, 
such as alcohol poisoning.  

Alcohol-related ambulance call-outs are ranked a ‘medium’ risk within Wickersley 
West LSOA (where 16 of the 19 licensed premises within Wickersley are located). 
Between 2016 and 2018, there were 50 ambulance call-outs which were directly 
related to alcohol. The high level of alcohol-related call outs indicates that those 
who come to the area can drink excessive amounts, sometimes across a number 
of premises which leads to a medical emergency such as alcohol poisoning. 
Wickersley West is in the top quartile of LSOAs across Yorkshire and the Humber 
which does not reflect the demography of the area.  

Furthermore, the Council believe that the setting of Wickersley centre on either 
side of the A631 (Bawtry Road) should also be considered when assessing public 
safety, as this is a busy road which links the M1 and M18, as well as Rotherham 
town centre with outlying urban areas. The density of premises within the area 
often leads to people, who may be intoxicated, walking between multiple premises 
within an evening, which is dangerous due to the proximity of this A-road. Between 
2018 and 2019, three road traffic collisions were recorded within the Cumulative 
Impact Zone. Two of these incidents happened at a weekend whilst the other 
occurred at 22:15, which broadly matches what would be expected from a night-
time economy.  

Public safety also concerns the safe departure of those using the premises. 
Currently, there is one agreement in place between a licensed premise and a 
private hire operator, which has an operator base within its car park. Apart from 
this, there are not any permanent transport options in Wickersley which would 
meet the demand of a night-time economy such as a taxi rank, late night bus 
network or railway station. Although individual premises may advertise private hire 
companies to their customers, as well as a small number of Hackney Carriages 
who may ply for hire on side streets, this does not give an adequate and 
sustainable capacity to move people from the area when premises close. This 
correlates to the temporal analysis of crime which shows a peak between the 
hours of 2300-0200. This trend, especially when dealing with offences categorised 
as anti-social behaviour, suggests that when people are leaving premises, they 
are not leaving the area immediately, which may be due, in part, to a lack of 
suitable transport.  

APPENDIX 6
Page 64



 

2. Prevention of public nuisance  

When considering the licensing objectives, the Council and responsible authorities 
should focus on the effect of licensable activities on any person living and working 
in the area around the premises, which may be considered disproportionate and 
unreasonable. This will usually concern noise nuisance, light pollution, noxious 
smells and litter.  

Although not given a statutory definition in the Licensing Act 2003, it covers 
anything which may be considered to reduce the living and working amenity and 
environment of persons living and working in the proximity of premises. It may also 
cover the impacts of licensed premises where they are prejudicial to the health of 
residents. 

Within Wickersley, there are two key areas of concern which fall under this 
licensing objective. Many residents cited noise nuisance from premises as a key 
issue in the area, alongside issues with street scene such as broken glass, fouling 
and vomiting.   

The Council’s Environmental Health team record noise complaints and those 
concerning licensed premises within Wickersley between January 2016 and 
present have been analysed below: 

 

Complaint Month Number of Complaints  Complaint Type Number of Complaints 
January 1  Bank Holiday 4 
February 1  Music  27 
March 3  Noise 11 
April 2  Total 42 
May 7    
June 3  Complaint Day Number of Complaints 
July 3  Monday 4 
August 19  Tuesday 1 
September 1  Wednesday 1 
October 0  Thursday 0 
November 2  Friday 4 
December 0  Saturday 15 
Total 42  Sunday 2 
   Total 27 

 

From 2016, forty-two noise complaints were made about licensed premises within 
Wickersley. Of these, twenty-seven related to a particular date, of which twenty-
one occurred between Friday night and Sunday night. A further four issues were 
identified on a Bank Holiday Monday. The number of complaints was highest in 
summer months, with August being the peak month for reports of noise nuisance.  

APPENDIX 6
Page 65



Levels of noise complaints have decreased between 2016 and 2019. 2016 saw a 
peak of complaints (17), followed by two static years (11, 11). However, 
complaints decreased sharply in 2019 (3). Although this clearly shows that some 
premises are dealing with real concerns from residents, it also reflects that 
residents do not feel empowered to report noise complaints against licensed 
premises as they do not feel as though these complaints have been remedied in 
the past.  This view was aired multiple times through meetings with residents, who 
believed that their concerns were not being dealt with seriously.  

In a resident’s session in October 2019, noise was still the largest concern of 
residents, but many said that they did not feel that the current systems in place 
could deal with noise issues from premises. Residents cited three main areas of 
concern:  

 

1. Outside drinking and live music in gardens and terraced areas in summer 
months 

2. Noise from customers leaving premises and staying in the area after 
licensed times 

3. Noise from premises staff after licensed hours, such as continuing to play 
loud music or emptying glass bins outside. 

 

Although the Council understand that these issues are not breaching individual 
licence conditions, the impact of the noise of several premises to residential 
properties within close proximity has a detrimental and consistent negative impact. 
This is intensified in summer months when multiple events happen in the same 
evening, or when multiple premises clean the outside of premises after licensable 
hours. This means that residents are not only being impacted to the early hours of 
the morning by the noise of a licensed premise, but also by other activities related 
to the running of a licensed premise through the night.   

Another key issue raised under this licensing objective is the negative impact of 
licensed premises on the overall cleanliness and appearance of the community. 
Residents are very concerned at the amount of litter that is left in and around 
premises, which often includes broken glass. Further concern was raised around 
urine and vomit being present on streets, especially at a weekend, both of which 
are clearly linked to the use of licensed premises.  

The Parish Council litter pick the centre of Wickersley daily and have been doing 
this for many years. Two ‘handymen’ are employed directly by the Parish to 
maintain the the village and although they cover the whole Parish, work is 
concentrated on the Tanyard area. Overall, three commercial waste bins are filled 
weekly.  

APPENDIX 6
Page 66



 

“There is a lot of waste which is particularly noticeable at the weekend. Our 
personnel work seven days a week and although they have been in post for 
several years, more litter has certainly been noticed in recent years”  
Wickersley Parish Council Clerk 

 

Nine residents of Wickersley cited litter, especially glass, as their largest concern 
and stated that “glass bottles or glasses are always left on walls outside” and that 
“establishments do not think they are responsible for picking up broken glass in 
the environment around them”. One resident cited that glass had been “thrown at 
their house and driveway by drinkers”.  

 

3. Prevention of Crime and Disorder 

This licensing objective relates to any disorder which takes place on or around 
premises, including offences such as anti-social behaviour, drug-dealing, theft and 
assault. South Yorkshire Police is the main partner agency who advises on these 
matters, although the Council also have teams in place to deal with anti-social 
behaviour and community protection. Data from both of these sources has been 
used when evidencing this section.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The previous three years of crime data for Wickersley West LSOA indicates that 
crime rates were consistently high in both 2017 and 2018. September 2017 had 
the highest number of crimes recorded within a month (26), followed by March 
2018. There were sixteen months across the three year period where more than 
fifteen crimes were committed. In the six month period between February-July 
2018, the crime rate stayed above this level continuously. On average, spring and 
summer months have higher levels of recorded crime across the period, although 

APPENDIX 6
Page 67



July 2019 does not correlate with this pattern. Winter months have much lower 
crime rates with January recording the lowest rate of crime in 2018, and second 
lowest in 2019. However, in 2017, this was not the case.  

It is also of note that October and November 2019 have recorded significantly 
higher levels of crime than the same months in 2018 and that crime levels has 
increased since September, which has not been seen previously over the period. 

The most common crime committed between December 2018 and December 
2019 were offences of a violent or sexual nature, which includes offences such as 
violence against the person, grievous bodily harm and sexual assault. This was 
followed by anti-social behaviour which consists of personal and environmental 
issues, as well as nuisance behaviour. Both of these offence types have a clear 
link to a night-time economy, or to those people who have visited a licensed 
premise before committing an offence.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

Other offences listed which could be associated to a night-time economy are theft, 
public order, drugs and theft from the person. Taking all of these offences into 
account, 65% of all crime recorded in Wickersley West could be linked to the night-
time economy within the area.  

Further analysis of these crimes looks at the temporal and spatial distribution 
within Wickersley West, which is shown below. 

 

Offence  Count 
Violence and sexual offences 33 
Anti-social behaviour 23 
Shoplifting 14 
Other theft 11 
Criminal damage and arson 10 
Public order 10 
Vehicle crime 10 
Burglary 8 
Drugs 2 
Other crime 1 
Robbery 1 
Theft from the person 1 

APPENDIX 6
Page 68



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

 

The hexagonal map divides the LSOA into 50 metre segments. There are three 
segments where more than fifteen offences took place within the past calendar 
year (December 2018 – December 2019). These are all situated alongside Bawtry 
Road within close proximity to licensed premises.  The most prevalent hotspot is 
located just north of the junction where Northfield Lane joins Bawtry Road, where 
a total of 28 offences took place. There is a licensed premise located on this 
junction which may signify that a number of these offences were attributable to 
this premise.  

 

Location Count 
On or near Willow Court 28 
On or near Supermarket 24 

Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey mapping with permission Of the Controller of Her Majesty’s Stationery Office © Crown copyright. 
Unauthorised reproduction infringes Crown copyright and may lead to prosecution or civil proceedings.  
Rotherham MBC Licence No. 100019587. 

APPENDIX 6
Page 69



 

 

 

 

 

To assess the spatial distribution of offences further, street level data has been 
provided by the police. This shows that Willow Court, a large, age restricted 
housing scheme, located directly behind the largest capacity premises within the 
centre, has the highest recorded level of crime within the area. Each of the three 
other streets which had a count higher than 10 are all located on or perpendicular 
to Bawtry Road and are all within 75 metres of a licensed premise.  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The temporal analysis above also shows a clear correlation to the night-time 
economy in Wickersley, with the main peak of offences taking place between 
2100-0100. Within this four hour period, 28.3% of all crimes occurred. An increase 

On or near Pedestrian 
Subway 15 
On or near Tanfield Way 12 

Hour Mon Tue Wed Thu Fri Sat Sun Total 
0000 7 2 3 6 3 6 8 35 
0100 2 1 2 0 1 2 5 13 
0200 2 2 0 1 2 4 2 13 
0300 1 0 2 0 1 1 0 5 
0400 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 
0500 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 2 
0600 1 0 0 2 0 1 0 4 
0700 1 0 0 0 0 0 1 2 
0800 1 2 0 1 0 1 0 5 
0900 2 4 4 2 1 0 1 14 
1000 3 2 1 2 1 2 2 13 
1100 0 1 3 2 4 0 11 21 
1200 5 2 4 6 5 2 1 25 
1300 4 5 0 5 5 1 2 22 
1400 1 3 0 3 2 3 1 13 
1500 1 3 1 5 4 7 3 24 
1600 5 8 2 3 1 4 1 24 
1700 1 3 6 1 3 3 4 21 
1800 3 3 4 4 1 2 4 21 
1900 1 4 2 5 2 3 4 21 
2000 2 4 1 2 1 1 3 14 
2100 7 1 5 1 3 5 2 24 
2200 3 4 7 2 5 4 2 27 
2300 6 1 1 3 2 1 10 24 
Total 59 56 48 56 47 54 68 388 

Highest risk  
Moderately high risk  

Moderate risk  
Low Risk  

Temporal Analysis: Crime figures for Wickersley West and Wickersley South between 
January 2016 and December 2019. Included with the permission of South Yorkshire Police. 

APPENDIX 6
Page 70



of crime during these hours is common within an area that has a large night-time 
economy and coincides with the variety of licensing hours within the centre. 
Furthermore, the peak seen between these hours is magnified over the weekend 
(Friday 0600 – Monday 0600) which sees higher and more consistent peaks 
between 00:00 and 01:00, with a slower return to a base level, which takes until 
03:00. The graph below demonstrates this point.  

Seven of the eight ‘highest risk’ hours identified by the police are either between 
2100-0100, or at a weekend. This also shows the impact of licensed premises and 
can be apportioned, at least in part, to the number of drinking establishments 
within the centre of the area.  

 

 
The temporal analysis undertaken only includes reported crimes. Although 
unaudited, ASB data was also made available to the Council by the police which 
further exacerbated the peaks seen over the weekend, with peak levels of 
offending occurring again between 2100-0100 across the weekend. Although this 
data cannot be made available in this document, further information can be 
requested from the Licensing Service if required.  

 
Although the Council recognise that crime levels have decreased in 2019, 
offences can have a disproportionate impact on the residents of Wickersley due 
to the large amount of residential areas within very close proximity to licensed 
premises. Furthermore, the demographic of Wickersley shows that there are more 
people aged 65 and older compared to the borough average, which increases the 
impact felt by residents due to crime and anti-social behaviour, especially for 
disturbance that takes place within the hours of a night-time economy.  

0
5

10
15
20
25
30
35

Co
un

t o
f C

rim
e

Hour (commencing)

Hourly Crime Count

All Weekend Weekday

APPENDIX 6
Page 71



The concerns of residents were expressed through an online survey and residents 
meeting and some of these responses focused on feeling unsafe in the area where 
they live.  

 

“People of all ages are scared to go out in the evening due to the amount of 
people drinking outside”.  

 
“I would never go into the village from late-afternoon onwards. I do not feel 
safe”.  

 
 

Furthermore, in its formal written response to the consultation, Wickersley Parish 
Council expressed a number of concerns, including the perception that residents 
are excluded from the night-time economy, partly due to crime.  

 
“Wickersley has become out-of-bounds for many residents at weekends”.  

 
 

4. Protection of Children from Harm  

There is no evidence to show that this licensing objective is being undermined 
within the Cumulative Impact Zone.  

 

  

APPENDIX 6
Page 72



Conclusion 

The assessment has been carried out in accordance with Section 5(a) of the Licensing 
Act 2003. The assessment has been published as the Council believe that the number 
of licensed premises within the area described in the assessment is such that granting 
any further licences, or varying existing licenses, would be inconsistent with the 
Council’s duty under the Act to promote the licensing objectives. 

 

Factors considered when granting applications in a Cumulative Impact Zone 

When considering the presumption against granting or varying a licence in a CIZ, the 
Council must be satisfied that the applicant will not impact any further on the 
cumulative impact of existing licensed premises.  

Applicants may suggest measures which they believe will demonstrate there will be 
no further impact from their premise. Examples that the Council may consider as 
demonstrating that there will be no further impact include:  

• Small premises who operate outside of the peak hours of disruption, as 
described in the CIA. 

• Premises which are not alcohol-led and operate during the day-time economy. 
• Instances where a business is relocating to a new premise but retaining the 

same style of business. 
• Conditions which ensure the premise will operate in a particular manner, such 

as a minimum number of waiting staff to secure a food-led premise. 

Examples of factors the Council will not consider include:  

• That the premise will be well managed and well run.  
• That the premise will be constructed to a high specification 
• That the applicant operates similar premises in other areas without complaint.  

Any representation made which supports the grant of a licence within a Cumulative 
Impact Zone will also be taken into account by the Council.  

APPENDIX 6
Page 73


	Agenda
	 
	3 Licensing Act 2003 - Licence - Consideration of an application (made in accordance with s.17 of the Licensing Act 2003) for the Grant of a Premises Licence for Fika Coffee Lounge, 212 Bawtry Road, Wickersley, Rotherham, S66 1AA
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	Appendix 5
	Appendix 6
	Background
	Implementing a Cumulative Impact Assessment
	Evidencing a Cumulative Impact Assessment
	Wickersley Cumulative Impact Assessment





